

United States Life Tables by Dentulous or Edentulous Condition, 1971 and 1957-58

Numbers of survivors by age, sex, and dentulous or edentulous condition, and average remaining lifetime by age and sex, classified by dentulous and edentulous years. Based on data collected in household interviews in 1971 and 1957-58.

DHEW Publication No. (HRA) 75-1338

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH, EDUCATION, AND WELFARE Public Health Service

> Health Resources Administration National Center for Health Statistics Rockville, Md. August 1974



Library of Congress Cataloging in Publication Data

Greville, T. N. E.

United States Life tables by dentulous or edentulous condition, 1971 & 1957-58.

(Data evaluation and methods research, series 2, no. 64) (DHEW publication no. (HRA) 75-1338)

Includes bibliographical references.

Supt. of Doc.: HE 20.6209:2/64.

1. Tooth loss-United States-Statistics. 2. United States-Statistics, Medical. I. Title. II. Series: United States. National Center for Health Statistics. Vital and health statistics. Series 2: Data evaluation and methods research, no. 64. III. Series: United States. Dept. of Health, Education, and Welfare. DHEW publication, no. (HRA) 75-1338. [DNLM: 1. Dental health surveys-Tables. 2. Mouth, Edentulous-Tables. W2A N148vb no. 64 1974] RA409.7145 no. 64 [RK34.U6] 312' .01'82s [312' .3'0476] ISBN 0-8406-0018-6 74-7204

NATIONAL CENTER FOR HEALTH STATISTICS

EDWARD B. PERRIN, Ph.D., Director

PHILIP S. LAWRENCE, Sc.D., Deputy Director JACOB J. FELDMAN, Ph.D., Acting Associate Director for Analysis GAIL F. FISHER, Associate Director for the Cooperative Health Statistics System ELIJAH L. WHITE, Associate Director for Data Systems IWAO M. MORIYAMA, Ph.D., Associate Director for International Statistical Programs EDWARD E. MINTY, Associate Director for Management ROBERT A. ISRAEL, Associate Director for Operations QUENTIN R. REMEIN, Associate Director for Program Development PHILIP S. LAWRENCE, Sc.D., Acting Associate Director for Statistical Research ALICE HAYWOOD, Information Officer

OFFICE OF STATISTICAL METHODS

MONROE G. SIRKEN, Ph.D., Director E. EARL BRYANT, M.A., Deputy Director

Vital and Health Statistics-Series 2-No. 64

DHEW Publication No. (HRA) 75-1338 Library of Congress Catalog Card Number 74-7204

FOREWORD

Life table techniques are very useful in the joint analysis of morbidity and mortality phenomena which can be viewed in cohort terms. Frequently, however, the available data do not satisfy the data needs specified by the life table models and assumptions are required. In this instance, we wished to estimate dentulous longevity which depends on mortality as well as on the incidence of edentulousness, the condition of having lost all of one's natural teeth. However, the mortality and morbidity statistics needed to estimate dentulous longevity were only partly available.

We were particularly interested in comparing the sexes with respect to the lengthening of their recent dentulous longevity. Morbidity data were available for two periods, 1957-58 and 1971, from the Health Interview Survey. During each period, the edentulous prevalence rate was lower for males than females, and between the two periods there was a substantial reduction in the prevalence of edentulousness for each sex. The mortality picture was somewhat different. During 1957-58 and 1971, mortality rates were lower for females than for males, and between the two periods the reductions in the mortality were less for males than for females.

This report presents selected functions of abridged edentulous life tables for 1971 and 1957-58. Life table statistics are presented for males, females, and for the combined sexes. The major findings with respect to dentulous longevity are summarized in table D on page 4. Thus, the average remaining dentulous lifetime (average length of life without having lost all of one's natural teeth) at age 20 increased by more than 2 years between 1957-58 and 1971. During the same period, the average remaining lifetime at age 20 increased by 1 year. The average remaining dentulous lifetime was greater for females than for males during both calendar periods but the difference was greater during the latter period, indicating that females experienced greater gains than males in dentulous longevity between the calendar periods.

Calculating dentulous longevity required two kinds of data which were not available, namely, age-specific incidence rates of edentulousness and agespecific mortality rates for the edentulous and for the dentulous populations. The problems were resolved as follows. The incidence rates of edentulousness were obtained (appendix III) essentially by differencing the age-specific prevalence rates which were available from the National Health Interview Survey. (Fortunately, the prevalence rates of edentulousness increased montonically with advancing age.) With respect to the unavailable mortality data, it was assumed that dentulous and edentulous persons are subject to the same rates. Whether or not these assumptions are viable depends somewhat on the analytical objectives. If the primary objective is to compare sex differences in the lengthening of dentulous longevity, the assumptions are probably more tolerable than if the objective is to estimate the length of dentulous life *per se*.

The principal justification for estimating dentulous longevity was methodological rather than substantive. We hope that this demonstration will stimulate applying life table techniques to other morbid conditions than edentulousness. It is noteworthy that the life table model used in this report is applicable to many kinds of morbid conditions, such as permanent impairments and chronic conditions, from which there is no chance of recovery. The mortality and morbidity statistics that would be required are not likely to be available for any of these morbid conditions, however, and it is doubtful that the assumptions that were made to overcome the problem of unavailable edentulous data would be appropriate for most other morbid conditions. Therefore, other kinds of assumptions would have to be devised.

Life table statistics presented in this report are subject to sampling errors and nonsampling errors. They are subject to sampling errors because the Health Interview Survey, the source of the edentulous prevalence rates is a sample data system. Sampling errors of the prevalence rates and procedures for calculating sampling errors of life table statistics are presented in appendix II. The life table statistics are subject to nonsampling errors including measurement errors and errors due to the unavailability of specified mortality and morbidity data on edentulousness. Although estimates of nonsampling errors are not presented in this report, there can be little doubt that they would be larger than the sampling errors.

> Monroe G. Sirken, Director, Office of Statistical Methods

CONTENTS

Foreword	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	Page iii
Introduction	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	1
Historical Survey	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	1
Interpretation of the Tables	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	2
General Assumptions	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	2 2
Expectation of Dentulous and Edentulous Life	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	3
References	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	4
List of Detailed Tables	•	•	•	•	•		•	•	•	•	5
Appendix I. Technical Notes on Methodology .	•	•	•			•		•	•		10
Source of Data	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	10
Calculation of Numbers of Survivors	•	•	•	٠	•	•	•	•	•	•	10
Calculation of Average Remaining Lifetime .	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	12
Appendix II. Reliability of Estimates	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	14
Standard Errors of Prevalence Rates	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	14
Standard Errors of Numbers of Survivors	•	•	٠	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	16
Standard Errors of Average Remaining Lifetime	•	•	•	٠	•	•	•	•	•	•	17
Appendix III. Implied Incidence Rates	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	18

.

.

SYMBOLS Data not available----- Category not applicable----- Quantity zero----- Quantity more than 0 but less than 0.05---- Quantity more than 0 but less than 0.05---- Figure does not meet standards of reliability or precision------ *

UNITED STATES LIFE TABLES BY DENTULOUS OR EDENTULOUS CONDITION, 1971 AND 1957-58

T. N. E. Greville, Ph.D. Office of Statistical Methods

INTRODUCTION

Data on edentulousness, the condition of having lost all of one's natural teeth, have been obtained through the Health Interview Survey of the National Center for Health Statistics on two occasions, in 1957-58¹ and in 1971.² By combining these data with life tables for comparable periods, one can estimate the probability that a dentulous person (that is, still having at least one natural tooth) at a specified age will be still alive but edentulous at a subsequent age. One can also estimate, for a dentulous person at a stated age, the division of the average remaining years of life into dentulous and edentulous years. It is the purpose of this report to present the results of such calculations. The comparison of the results for the two time periods is of particular interest.

HISTORICAL SURVEY

In 1943, Klein³ published life tables for teeth, based on data collected by the Committee on the Costs of Medical Care and the Public Health Service and reported by Collins.⁴ The underlying data provided the number of natural teeth present in the mouth of each respondent, and the values in the tables were average numbers of teeth remaining at successive ages. Thus these were life tables for teeth, not for persons.

From a survey of all dental practitioners, Evans and Cellier⁵ obtained information on all extractions performed in South Australia during a 3-week period in November 1966. From these data they estimated incidence rates of edentulousness by age and sex.

Incidence rates like those developed in the Australian study appear to be a prerequisite for constructing the kind of tables appearing in the present report. Because only prevalence rates were available (and not incidence rates), it was necessary to make certain artificial assumptions which will be described later.

Although data on prevalence of edentulousness have also been obtained from the Health Examination Survey⁶ of the National Center for Health Statistics, it was preferred to utilize the data from the Health Interview Survey because they are based on a much larger sample of respondents and they also provide an interesting comparison, having been obtained on survey dates 13 years apart. Table A suggests that the findings of the Health Examination Survey are consistent with the data of the Health Interview Survey utilized in this report, even though data for exactly comparable age intervals are not available from the two surveys.

Sex	Health Survey 15 an	Interview /s, ages d over	Health Examination Survey, ages 18-79			
	1971	1957-58	1960-62			
	Rat	e per 100	persons			
Both sexes	15.7	18.9	18.1			
Female Male	16.8 14.5	20.0 17.6	19.7 16.5			

Table A. Prevalence rates of edentulousness per 100 persons from different surveys, by sex: United States

INTERPRETATION OF THE TABLES

General Assumptions

It has already been stated that in order to construct the kind of tables presented in this report when only prevalence rates of edentulousness (and not incidence rates) were available, it was necessary to make certain artificial assumptions. In general terms, it was assumed that the prevalence rate of edentulousness in a given age interval in the hypothetical stationary population associated with the life table⁷ is the same as in the actual sampled population, and further that age-specific mortality rates are the same for dentulous and edentulous persons. One would expect that neither assumption is in accord with actual facts. The current prevalence of edentulousness in a given cohort depends in a complicated way upon the previous history of the cohort, and it is clear from the data of the three surveys as shown in table A that the incidence of edentulousness has declined markedly in recent years. As to the second assumption, it is likely that loss of all teeth is negatively correlated with the general state of health. Therefore the values in the tables must be regarded as rough approximations.

A more technical discussion of these assumptions and detailed description of the methodology employed are found in appendix I. Appendix II concerns the sampling variability of the prevalence rates of edentulousness and the numerical quantities calculated from them. Appendix III contains a technical discussion of the incidence rates implied by the assumptions used.

Survival Rates and Transition Probabilities

Tables 1 and 2 show the number of survivors at the indicated ages in a hypothetical life-table cohort starting from 100,000 births, subdivided by dentulous and edentulous condition. Table 1 is based on 1971 prevalence rates of edentulousness from the Health Interview Survey and on 1971 life tables.⁷ Table 2 is based on 1957-58 prevalence data and 1958 life tables.⁸

The following illustration will help to clarify the way in which the values in these tables may be interpreted. By table 1, the proportion of females alive at age 25 who survive to age 55 is $89,291 \div 97,081 = .91976$. Under the assumption previously stated, this value applies equally to dentulous and edentulous females. Therefore the number of survivors to 55 of the 1,631 who were already edentulous at 25 is $1,631 \times .91976 = 1,500$. The remaining 21,894 - 1,500 = 20,394 edentulous females at age 55 are survivors of the 95,450 who were dentulous at 25. Thus if we choose to interpret such ratios as probabilities, the probability that

Table B. Indicated probabilities that a dentulous person atage 20 will be alive but edentulous at ages shown by sex, based on 1971 prevalence rates and 1971 life tables: United States

Age	Both sexes	Female	Male
45 years 55 years 65 years 75 years	Pr .115 .210 .283 .273	obabilit .128 .222 .308 .344	.103 .198 .257 .205

Table C. Indicated probabilities that a dentulous person at age 20 will be alive but edentulous at ages shown by sex, based on 1957-58 prevalence rates and 1958 life tables: United States

Age	Both sexes	Female	Male
45 years 55 years 65 years 75 years	Pro .145 .261 .341 .293	bability .152 .281 .391 .372	.136 .239 .293 .223

a dentulous female aged 25 will be alive but edentulous at 55 is $20,394 \div 95,450 = .214$.

Tables B and C show the indicated probabilities, on the basis of 1971 and 1957-58 data, respectively, that a dentulous person at age 20 will be alive but edentulous at the ages shown.

The probability that a person now dentulous at a given age will survive to a subsequent age but become edentulous may be regarded as the product of two probabilities: The probability of survival and the probability of being edentulous if alive at the subsequent age. In every instance the survival rate for females is greater than for males, and in all but a few cases the prevalence rate of edentulousness is also greater for females. Consequently, every probability for females in tables B and C is greater than the corresponding value for males.

In general, up to age 65 the increase with age in the prevalence rates of edentulousness is more rapid than the decrease in the survival rate from age 20, while the reverse is true between ages 65 and 75. Therefore in most instances the probabilities in tables B and C increase with advancing age up to 65 and then decline between 65 and 75. The exception in the case of females in 1971 is due to the slow decrease in survival rates even up to age 75. On the basis of table 1, the probability that the same dentulous female at age 25 will survive to age 55 and remain dentulous is simply $67,397 \div 95,450 = .706$.

Now, the probability that this female will survive to age 55 regardless of tooth loss is $89,291 \div 97,081 = .920$. Clearly this must be the sum of the two probabilities that she will survive in a dentulous and an edentulous condition. Thus the probability of edentulous survival to age 55 could have been calculated more simply as .920 - .706 = .214. This is the same value previously obtained.

Expectation of Dentulous and Edentulous Life

If age-sex specific rates of mortality are the same for dentulous and edentulous persons, the same is true of the average remaining lifetime, also called the expectation of life. However, it is now possible to subdivide the average remaining lifetime of a dentulous person into the years to be spent in the dentulous and the edentulous state. The results are shown in tables 3 and 4, based on the data of 1971 and 1957-58, respectively.

It should be noted that in the computation of the average remaining years of edentulous life, those persons who never become edentulous are, in effect, credited with zero years. These figures would be much larger if only those who eventually become edentulous were included in the average.

Because of the greater prevalence rates of edentulousness for females, the proportion of edentulous years shown in tables 3 and 4 is consistently greater for females than for males in both time intervals. For each sex, this proportion is substantially less for 1971 than for 1957-58, except at the oldest ages shown.

Table D compares the total average remaining lifetime and the average remaining dentulous lifetime at selected ages, by sex, for the two time periods considered.

Table D	• •	Average	remaining	3	lifeti	ime	and	average	remainin	g der	itulous	s lifetime	of	а	den-
		tulous	s person b	эγ	age a	and	sex:	United	States,	Ĩ971	and 19	957-58			

		Total		Dentulous			
Survey period and age	Both sexes	Female	Male	Both sexes	Female	Male	
<u>1971</u>	Av	erage re	maining	lifetime	in years		
20 years	53.2 43.9 34.7 26.1 18.5 12.1	56.7 47.1 37.7 28.9 20.6 13.4	49.8 40.8 31.7 23.3 16.1 10.6	42.0 33.8 26.2 19.3 14.1 9.7	43.5 35.3 27.9 20.8 15.2 10.2	40.6 32.4 24.6 17.8 12.8 9.0	
1957-58 20 years	52.2 42.8 33.6 24.9 17.3 11.1	55.2 45.6 36.2 27.3 19.1 12.1	49.4 40.2 31.1 22.7 15.6 10.1	39.7 31.2 23.5 17.5 12.6 9.1	40.4 32.0 24.2 18.1 13.3 9.3	39.1 30.3 22.7 16.9 12.0 8.7	

REFERENCES

¹U.S. National Health Survey: Loss of teeth. *Health Statistics.* PHS Pub. No. 584-B22. Public Health Service. Washington. U.S. Government Printing Office, Sept. 1960.

²National Center for Health Statistics: Unpublished data for 1971. Division of Health Interview Statistics.

³Klein, H.: Tooth mortality and socio-economic status-life tables for teeth. J. Am. Dent. Assoc. 30:80-95, Jan. 1, 1943.

⁴Collins, S. D.: Frequency of dental services among 9,000 families, based on nation-wide periodic canvasses 1928-31. Pub. Health Rep. 54:629-657, Apr. 21, 1939.

⁵Evans, G. G. L., and Cellier, K. M.: A survey of tooth loss in South Australia. *Aust. Dent. J.* 15:299-302, Aug. 1970. ⁶National Center for Health Statistics: Total loss of

⁶National Center for Health Statistics: Total loss of teeth in adults. PHS Pub. No. 1000-Series 11-No. 27. Public Health Service. Washington. U.S. Government Printing Office, Oct. 1967. ⁷National Center for Health Statistics: Vital Statistics of the United States, 1971, Vol. II, Part A, Section 5, Life Tables. DHEW pub. No. (HRA) 74-1147. Washington. U.S. Government Printing Office.

⁸National Center for Health Statistics: Vital Statistics of the United States, 1958, Vol. I, Section 5, Life Tables. Public Health Service. Washington. U.S. Government Printing Office, 1960.

 ⁹Hansen, M. H., Hurwitz, W. N., and Madow, W. G.: Sample Survey Methods and Theory, Vol. II, Theory. New York. John Wiley & Sons, 1953. pp. 107-109.
 ¹⁰Spiegelman, M.: Introduction to Demography, re-

¹⁰Spiegelman, M.: Introduction to Demography, revised ed. Cambridge. Harvard University Press, 1968. pp. 189-<u>1</u>90.

¹¹ Jordan, C.W.: Life Contingencies, 2d ed. Chicago. Society of Actuaries, 1967. Equation (14.37a), p. 280.

LIST OF DETAILED TABLES

, .

.

Table	1.	Survivors to stated ages by sex and dentulous or edentulous condition: United States, 1971 6				
	2.	Survivors to stated ages by sex and dentulous or edentulous condition: United States, 1957-58 7				
3. Average remaining lifetime of a dentulous person, average remaining dentu and edentulous years, and proportion of edentulous years, by sex and age: Un States, 1971						
	4,	Average remaining lifetime of a dentulous person, average remaining dentulous and edentulous years, and proportion of edentulous years, by sex and age: United States, 1957-58				

Page

Table	1.	Survivors	to	stated	ages	Ъy	sex	and	dentulous	or	edentulous	condition:	United
						Ē	State	es, I	1971				

Sex and age	Total	Dentulous	Edentulous
<u>Both</u> sexes		Number	
20 years	96,847 96,146 95,462 94,650 93,499 91,781 89,234 85,439 80,000 72,326 62,482 49,841	96,527 94,723 91,892 88,450 84,832 80,336 73,716 64,874 55,088 44,806 33,834 23,306	320 1,423 3,570 6,200 8,667 11,445 15,518 20,565 24,912 27,520 28,648 26,535
Female 20 years	97,440 97,081 96,664 95,240 93,933 92,035 89,291 85,469 79,951 72,291 61,161	97,128 95,450 92,672 89,196 85,392 81,243 75,432 67,397 58,692 49,777 39,066 27,565	312 1,631 3,992 6,900 9,848 12,690 16,603 21,894 26,777 30,174 33,225 33,596
Male 20 years	96,280 95,229 94,280 93,223 91,776 89,642 86,435 81,582 74,555 64,812 52,974 39,004	95,943 94,020 91,131 87,769 84,333 79,459 72,009 62,345 51,495 39,911 28,791 19,202	337 1,209 3,149 5,454 7,443 10,183 14,426 19,237 23,060 24,901 24,183 19,802

Table	2.	Survivors	to	stated	ages	by Sta	sex ates	and , 195	dentulous 57-58	or	edentulous	condition:	United
-------	----	-----------	----	--------	------	-----------	-------------	--------------	--------------------	----	------------	------------	--------

Sex and age	Total	Dentulous	Edentulous
Both sexes		Number	
20 years	95,991	95,127	864
	95,400	93,254	2,146
	94,785	91,373	3,412
	94,003	87,799	6,204
	92,900	83,982	8,918
	91,191	76,600	14,591
	88,578	68,737	19,841
	84,524	58,955	25,569
	78,792	48,772	30,020
	70,791	37,696	33,095
	59,556	26,562	32,994
	46,178	17,848	28,330
Female 20 years	96,615	95,745	870
	96,280	93,680	2,600
	95,848	91,535	4,313
	95,243	88,195	7,048
	94,373	84,653	9,720
	93,073	77,669	15,404
	91,123	70,347	20,776
	88,220	60,475	27,745
	84,080	50,364	33,716
	78,029	39,912	38,117
	68,708	29,132	39,576
	56,214	20,068	36,146
Male 20 years	95,393	94,534	859
	94,537	92,883	1,654
	93,736	91,299	2,437
	92,772	87,484	5,288
	91,431	83,385	8,046
	89,305	75,597	13,708
	86,034	67,193	18,841
	80,744	57,409	23,335
	73,528	47,131	26,397
	63,767	35,486	28,281
	50,985	24,065	26,920
	37,115	15,737	21,378

Table 3. Average remaining lifetime of a dentulous person, average remaining dentulous and edentulous years, and proportion of edentulous years, by sex and age: United States, 1971

_					
	Sex and age	Total	Dentulous	Edentulous	Proportion of edentulous years
	Both sexes	Averag	ge remaining in years	lifetime	
20250 350 450550 6570 75	years	53.2 48.6 43.9 39.3 34.7 30.3 26.1 22.1 18.5 15.1 12.1 9.5	42.0 37.8 33.8 30.0 26.2 22.5 19.3 16.6 14.1 11.7 9.7 8.0	11.2 10.8 10.1 9.3 8.5 7.8 6.8 5.5 4.4 3.4 2.4 1.5	.21 .22 .23 .24 .24 .26 .26 .26 .25 .24 .23 .20 .16
20 250 350 550 650 75 75	<u>Female</u> years years years years years years years years years years years years years years years	56.7 51.9 47.1 42.4 37.7 33.2 28.9 24.7 20.6 16.9 13.4 10.4	43.5 39.2 35.3 31.6 27.9 24.1 20.8 17.9 15.2 12.5 10.2 8.5	13.2 12.7 11.8 10.8 9.8 9.1 8.1 6.8 5.4 4.4 3.2 1.9	.23 .24 .25 .26 .27 .28 .28 .28 .26 .26 .26 .24 .18
205 30 350 55 60 75 75	<u>Male</u> years years years years years years years years years years years years years years	49.8 45.3 40.8 36.2 31.7 27.4 23.3 19.5 16.1 13.2 10.6 8.4	40.6 36.3 32.4 28.5 24.6 20.9 17.8 15.1 12.8 10.8 9.0 7.4	9.2 9.0 8.4 7.7 7.1 6.5 5.5 4.4 3.3 2.4 1.6 1.0	.18 .20 .21 .22 .24 .24 .23 .20 .18 .15 .12

Table 4. Average remaining lifetime of a dentulous person, average remaining dentulous and edentulous years, and proportion of edentulous years, by sex and age: United States, 1957-58

Sex and age	Total	Dentulous	Edentulous	Proportion of edentulous years
Both sexes	Avera	ge remaining in years	lifetime	
20 years 25 years 30 years 35 years 40 years 40 years 50 years 50 years 60 years 60 years 61 years 70 years 75 years	52.2 4.7.5 42.8 38.1 33.6 29.1 24.9 21.0 17.3 14.0 11.1 8.6	39.7 35.5 31.2 27.3 23.5 20.5 17.5 15.0 12.6 10.6 9.1 7.3	12.5 12.0 11.6 10.8 10.1 8.6 7.4 6.0 4.7 3.4 2.0 1.3	.24 .25 .27 .28 .30 .30 .30 .29 .27 .24 .18 .15
Female 20 years 25 years 30 years 35 years 40 years 40 years 50 years 55 years 60 years 65 years 70 years 75 years	55.2 50.3 45.6 40.8 36.2 31.6 27.3 23.1 19.1 15.4 12.1 9.2	40.4 36.2 32.0 28.1 24.2 21.2 18.1 15.7 13.3 11.1 9.3 7.5	14.8 14.1 13.6 12.7 12.0 10.4 9.2 7.4 5.8 4.3 2.8 1.7	27 28 30 31 33 33 34 32 30 28 23 18
Male 20 years 25 years 30 years 35 years 40 years 40 years 50 years 55 years 60 years 61 years 70 years 75 years	49.4 44.9 40.2 35.6 31.1 26.8 22.7 19.0 15.6 12.6 10.1 8.0	39.1 34.7 30.3 26.5 22.7 19.8 16.9 14.4 12.0 10.1 8.7 7.1	10.3 10.2 9.9 9.1 8.4 7.0 5.8 4.6 3.6 2.5 1.4 0.9	.21 .23 .25 .26 .27 .26 .26 .24 .23 .20 .14 .11

•

APPENDIX I

TECHNICAL NOTES ON METHODOLOGY

It is the purpose of this appendix to describe the methodology used in the construction of the detailed tables.

Source of Data

Data underlying this report are prevalence rates of edentulousness by sex and age for 1971 and 1957-58 obtained in the Health Interview Survey^{2, 1} and abridged life tables^{7, 8} for 1971 and 1958. The earlier prevalence rates of edentulousness cover the period July 1957-June 1958, while the annual abridged life tables are each based on the data of a single calendar year. A decision was made on a purely arbitrary basis to use the 1958 (rather than 1957) life tables. Differences between the life tables of the two years are negligible.

The prevalence rates utilized in this report are shown (along with other data) in tables I and II.

Calculation of Numbers of Survivors

It was assumed in the calculations that the prevalence rates by sex and age observed in the sample apply equally to the life table population. Prevalence rates not directly available from tables I and II were estimated by straight-line interpolation. In performing this interpolation, each of the prevalence rates in tables I and II (except those for the terminal age intervals) was associated with the midpoint of the interval of exact ages to which the rate applies. For example, the age interval 45-49 (in completed years) comprises all exact ages between 45 and 50 and the midpoint is age 47.5. The prevalence rates in 1971 for exact age 50 (needed in the calculation of edentulous survivors) was estimated by taking the arithmetic mean of those for age intervals 45-49 and 50-54. Such prevalence rates were estimated for quinquennial exact ages from 20 to 75, inclusive.

Prevalence rates of 1957-58 were available from the survey only for the decennial age intervals shown in table II. Rates for quinquennial age intervals (needed subsequently in the calculation of average remaining lifetime) were estimated by straight-line interpolation. For example, the rate for the age interval 45-49 (midpoint 47.5) for females was estimated from those for intervals 35-44 (midpoint 40) and 45-54 (midpoint 50) by the formula

$$\frac{50-47.5}{50-40} (10.3) + \frac{47.5-40}{50-40} (22.8)$$

= .25 x 10.3 + .75 x 22.8 = 19.675.

In the calculation of prevalence rates of 1957-58 for exact age 75, the age interval 75 and over was treated as being 75-84 (with midpoint at 80).

Values of ℓ_x (number of survivors to age x of 100,000 live births) were taken directly from the respective life tables. They were not standardized to produce a round number at age 20. The number of edentulous survivors at age x was obtained by multiplying ℓ_x by the appropriate prevalence rate. The number of dentulous survivors is the total number minus the number of edentulous survivors.

Table I.	Estimated number	and rate per	1,000 population	of edentulous	persons	by sex	and age:
		Un	ited States, 1971				-

		Edentulous persons	
Sex and age	Total population	Number	Rate per 1,000 population
Both sexes			
15-19 years 20-24 years 25-29 years 30-34 years 35-39 years 40-44 years 40-44 years 50-54 years 50-54 years 55-59 years 60-64 years 65-69 years 70-74 years 70-74 years 80-84 years 85-89 years 85 years 85 years	$19,000,939\\16,255,280\\13,763,688\\11,418,812\\10,734,663\\11,510,922\\12,094,428\\11,151,614\\10,133,703\\8,383,916\\6,881,047\\5,163,246\\3,835,244\\2,243,037\\922,063\\1,226,544$	${}^{1}16,21093,392327,978582,457857,6401,212,8501,740,7072,274,1412,812,1802,894,6552,860,5272,587,7902,161,3291,390,607624,327819,008$	$\begin{array}{r}10.9\\5.7\\23.8\\51.0\\79.9\\105.4\\143.9\\203.9\\277.5\\345.3\\415.7\\501.2\\563.5\\620.0\\677.1\\667.7\end{array}$
Female		1	1
15-19 years 20-24 years 25-29 years 30-34 years 40-44 years 40-44 years 50-59 years 50-54 years 50-59 years 60-64 years 65-69 years 70-74 years 75-79 years 80-84 years 85 years 85 years	9,555,961 8,795,072 7,110,929 5,925,961 5,648,021 5,901,517 6,285,786 5,823,709 5,309,179 4,513,193 3,762,027 2,983,182 2,290,609 1,369,923 554,103 752,611	$1^{1}7,414$ 48,685 198,880 322,774 502,993 693,769 958,766 1,213,166 1,497,893 1,554,982 1,554,982 1,554,982 1,554,985 1,350,875 864,271 392,203 527,841	10.8 5.5 28.0 54.5 89.1 117.6 152.5 208.3 282.1 344.5 410.3 508.8 589.7 630.9 707.8 701.3
Male			_
15-19 years 20-24 years 25-29 years 30-34 years 35-39 years 40-44 years 40-44 years 50-54 years 50-54 years 50-54 years 60-64 years 65-69 years 70-74 years 75-79 years 80-84 years 85-89 years 85 years 85 years	9,444,978 7,460,208 6,652,759 5,492,851 5,086,642 5,609,405 5,808,642 5,327,905 4,824,524 3,870,723 3,119,020 2,180,064 1,544,635 873,114 367,960 473,933	${}^{1}_{44},796\\ {}^{4}_{44},707\\ 129,098\\ 259,683\\ 354,647\\ 519,081\\ 781,941\\ 1,060,975\\ 1,314,287\\ 1,339,673\\ 1,317,016\\ 1,069,840\\ 810,454\\ 526,336\\ 232,124\\ 291,167\\ \end{array}$	¹ 0.9 6.0 19.4 47.3 69.7 92.5 134.6 199.1 272.4 346.1 422.3 490.7 524.7 602.8 630.8 614.4

¹Relative standard error is more than 30 percent.

	Total	Edentulous persons		
Sex and age	in thousands	Number in thousands	Rate per 100 population	
Both sexes				
15-24 years 25-34 years	21,093 22,738 22,918 19,639 14,831 9,627 4,886	194 812 2,196 4,390 5,647 5,329 3,287	0.9 3.6 9.6 22.4 38.1 55.4 67.3	
Female				
15-24 years 25-34 years	11,292 11,880 11,892 10,047 7,685 5,116 2,755	102 535 1,228 2,287 3,082 2,947 1,957	0.9 4.5 10.3 22.8 40.1 57.6 71.0	
Male				
15-24 years	9,801 10,859 11,026 9,592 7,147 4,511 2,131	91 277 968 2,103 2,565 2,383 1,330	0.9 2.6 8.8 21.9 35.9 52.8 62.4	

Table II. Estimated number and percent of edentulous persons by sex and age: United States, July 1957-June 1958

Calculation of Average Remaining Lifetime

Values of ${}_{5}L_{x}$ (number between exact ages x and x + 5 in the stationary population associated with the life tables) were subdivided into dentulous and edentulous persons by applying appropriate prevalence rates. These values are not shown in this report. This process is analogous to the subdivision of ℓ_{x} values described in the preceding section. For the 1971 data the process was carried up to age 85. The corresponding values for the terminal age intervals ($T_{85} = {}_{\infty}L_{85}$ for the 1971 data and $T_{75} = {}_{\infty}L_{75}$ for the 1957-58 data) were similarly subdivided. It will be convenient to denote the dentulous and edentulous components by superscripts (d) and (e). For each quinquennial age x from 20 to 75, a value of $T_x^{(d)}$ (the number of dentulous persons in the stationary population at ages x and above) was obtained by adding to ${}_5L_x^{(d)}$ the corresponding values for all subsequent age intervals, including the terminal interval. In other words, the $T_x^{(d)}$ column on the worksheet is obtained by accumulating the ${}_5L_x^{(d)}$ column from the bottom up.

The average remaining dentulous lifetime of a dentulous person aged x, which is denoted by $\hat{\ell}_{x}^{(d)}$, was obtained by the formula

$$\overset{o}{e}_{\mathbf{x}}^{(\mathbf{d})} = T_{\mathbf{x}}^{(\mathbf{d})} / \mathscr{L}_{\mathbf{x}}^{(\mathbf{d})}.$$

The justification for this formula is that the dentulous part of the cohort is a "closed" group in the sense that a person who becomes edentulous will never again be dentulous.

The second major assumption made in this report is that age-sex-specific mortality rates are the same for dentulous and edentulous persons. This implies that the average remaining lifetime at age x is the same for dentulous and edentulous persons. In other words, the average remaining lifetime for dentulous persons is the same as that for all persons (of the given age and sex). Thus if $\hat{e}_x^{(de)}$ denotes the average remaining edentulous lifetime of a dentulous person aged x this is taken to be

$$e_{\mathbf{x}}^{\mathrm{o}(\mathrm{de})} = e_{\mathbf{x}}^{\mathrm{o}} - e_{\mathbf{x}}^{\mathrm{o}(\mathrm{d})}$$

Values of \hat{e}_x° were taken from the appropriate life tables.^{7,8} Tables 3 and 4 show also values of $\hat{e}_x^{(d)}$ and $\hat{e}_x^{\circ(de)}$ which were estimated in the manner just described.

APPENDIX II RELIABILITY OF ESTIMATES

Standard Errors of Prevalence Rates

Since the numerical quantities presented in this report are based on a sample, they differ somewhat from the values that would have been obtained if prevalence rates of edentulousness had been derived from a complete census. The tables shown in appendix I and the chart included in this appendix are designed to provide measures of this sampling variability. They do not include estimates of any biases that might be present in the data.

Tables I and II show, for each sex-age category, the estimated number of edentulous persons, as well as the total population (according to estimates of the U.S. Bureau of the Census) and the prevalence rate. Figure I is intended to assist the reader in determining standard errors of the prevalence rates. The values so obtained are, of course, estimates of the standard errors, but to avoid excess verbiage, they will henceforth be referred to merely as "standard errors." In order to use this graph, one must find in the appropriate table (table I or II) the estimated number of edentulous persons corresponding to the prevalence rate in question. This estimated number must be located on the base line (horizontal axis) of the figure. The corresponding reading on the vertical axis is the relative standard error (in percent) of this estimated number and also of the corresponding prevalence rate. For example, consider the prevalence rate of 152.5 per 1,000 population for females aged 45-49 in 1971. By table I the corresponding estimate of the number of edentulous persons is 958,766. The ordinate of the graph in figure I corresponding to an abscissa of 958,766 is approximately 5.6 percent, or .056, which is therefore the relative standard error of the prevalence rate in question.

The standard error is primarily a measure of sampling variability, that is, the variations that might occur by chance because only a sample of the population is surveyed. The chances are about 68 out of 100 that an estimate from the sample would differ from the value obtained in a complete census by less than the standard error. The chances are about 95 out of 100 that the difference would be less than twice the standard error, and about 99 out of 100 that it would be less than 2½ times as large.

As a further illustration, observe that the only instances in tables I and II in which prevalence rates for females do not exceed the corresponding rates for males (with the exception of some marginal cases at ages under 25) occur at ages 60-64 and 65-69 in 1971. One may ask whether these two exceptions to the general rule could reasonably be ascribed to sampling variability.

The following figures extracted from table I show the number of edentulous persons of each sex in each of the two age intervals in question:

	Female	Male
60-64	1,544,982	1,339,673
65-69	1,543,511	1,317,016

Entering the chart in figure 1 with these numbers, one can read the corresponding relative





Example of use of chart: An estimate of 1,000,000 edentulous persons (on scale at bottom of chart) has a relative standard error of 5.6 percent, or a standard error of 56,000 (5.6 percent of 1,000,000).

standard errors as follows:

	Female	Male
	Perce	nt
60-64	2.4	3.0
65-69	2.4	3.2

These are also the relative standard errors of the corresponding prevalence rates. Consequently, the absolute standard errors of the prevalence rates per 1,000 population are:

	<i>Female</i> Percen	<i>Male</i> t
60-64	8.3	10.4
65-69	9.8	13.5

If covariance is ignored, the standard error of the female minus male difference is the square root of the sum of the squares of the standard errors for females and males separately. The differences in prevalence rates and the corresponding standard errors are as follows:

	Difference in prevalence rates	Standard error of difference	
	Percent		
60-64	1.6	13.3	
65-69	12.0	16.7	

It is clear that the larger prevalence rates for males in these two instances could reasonably be ascribed to sampling variation.

Standard Errors of Numbers of Survivors

The numbers of edentulous survivors shown in table 1 are obtained by multiplying life-table values for the United States population by prevalence rates of edentulousness. In most instances, the prevalence rate in question is obtained by straight-line interpolation between two consecutive tabular prevalence rates. If the latter two rates are denoted by $\hat{\pi}_1$ and $\hat{\pi}_2$ and the interpolated rate by $\hat{\pi}$ (where the circumflex accent denotes that the rates are estimates based on a sample, while its absence denotes the underlying true rates), and if

$$\hat{\pi} = t \hat{\pi_1} + (1-t) \hat{\pi_2},$$

and further if ρ_1 and ρ_2 denote the relative standard errors of π_1 and π_2 , respectively, then the standard error of π is

$$\rho = \frac{1}{\pi} \left[t^2 \rho_1^2 \pi_1^2 + (1-t)^2 \rho_2^2 \pi_2^2 \right]^{\frac{1}{2}},$$

if one neglects the covariance of π_1 and π_2 . If $t = \frac{1}{2}$, this reduces to

$$\rho = \frac{\left[\rho_1^2 \ \pi_1^2 \ + \ \rho_2^2 \ \pi_2^2\right]^{\frac{1}{2}}}{\pi_1 \ + \ \pi_2}$$

For example the figure 30,174, which is the number of edentulous survivors at age 65 for females in 1971 (table 1), is obtained by multiplying 79,951 by .3774. The prevalence rate of 377.4 per 1,000 used in the latter calculation is the arithmetic mean of the tabular rates 344.5 and 410.3. The respective standard errors of the latter rates, obtained from table 1 and figure I by the method previously described, are 8.3 and 9.8, and the formula for the case of $t = \frac{1}{2}$ gives 3.4 percent for the relative standard error of the interpolated rate. Thus the standard error of the number 30,174 of edentulous survivors is 1.7 percent of 30,174, or 513.

Since the number of dentulous survivors is a constant less the number of edentulous survivors, the absolute standard error is the same, but the relative standard error is different—in this case $513 \div 49,777 = 1.0$ percent.

A similar calculation at age 75 gives 672 as the standard error of the number 33,596 of edentulous female survivors at that age.

Now, one can observe that for males in 1971 and for each sex in 1957-58 the number of edentulous survivors at age 75 is less than at age 65. Thus the females in 1971 exhibit different behavior in this respect from the other three categories. Is it conceivable that this exceptional behavior could be due to sampling variability? The difference between the numbers at ages 65 and 75 is 3,422 and the standard error of this difference is approximately

 $[(513)^2 + (672)^2]^{\frac{1}{2}} = 845$

On the hypothesis that the numbers of edentulous survivors at the two ages are the same in the total population, the standardized deviate is $3,422 \div 845 = 4.05$. Thus it is most unlikely that sampling variability accounts for the exceptional behavior.

Standard Errors of **Average Remaining Lifetime**

The estimation of standard errors of average remaining lifetimes is more complicated, since these quantities are quotients of random variables. First consider the standard error of the average remaining dentulous lifetime of a dentulous person. Since the sum of $e_x^{(d)}$ and $v_x^{(de)}$ is the constant $e_x^{(de)}$ (see appendix I), the standard deviations of $e_x^{(d)}$ and $e_x^{(de)}$ are the same absolute amount.

The procedure for estimating the standard error of $\hat{e}_{x}^{(d)}$ is somewhat complicated and is most easily explained by reference to a specific example. Consider, therefore, the estimation of the standard error of $\hat{e}_{75}^{(d)}$ for females in 1971. If $_{n}\pi_{x}$ denotes the prevalence rate of edentulousness in the age interval between exact ages x and x + n the formula for $\hat{e}_{75}^{(d)}$ can be written

$$e_{75}^{e_{75}^{(d)}} = \frac{{}_{5}^{5} L_{75} (1 - {}_{5}\pi_{75}) + {}_{5}L_{80} (1 - {}_{5}\pi_{80}) + T_{85} (1 - {}_{\infty}\pi_{85})}{{}_{75}^{(d)}}$$
$$= \frac{T_{75} - ({}_{5}\pi_{75} {}_{5}L_{75} + {}_{5}\pi_{80} {}_{5}L_{80} + {}_{\infty}\pi_{85} T_{85})}{{}_{25}^{(d)}}.$$

Henceforth the relative standard deviation

of ${}_{n}\pi_{x}$ is denoted by ${}_{n}\rho_{x}$. The standard error of the numerator of $e_{75}^{o(d)}$ is the standard error of the expression

within parentheses in the last expression above and, ignoring covariances, can be approximated bv

$$\sigma_{\text{Num}} \doteq \begin{bmatrix} {}_{5}\rho_{75}^{2} & {}_{5}\pi_{75}^{2} & {}_{5}L_{75}^{2} & + {}_{5}\rho_{80}^{2} & {}_{5}\pi_{80}^{2} & {}_{5}L_{80}^{2} \\ \\ & + {}_{\infty}\rho_{85}^{2} & {}_{\infty}\pi_{85}^{2} & T_{85}^{2} \end{bmatrix}^{\frac{1}{2}} = 12512.$$

The standard error of the denominator is the same as that of $l_{75}^{(e)}$, which was previously shown to be 672.

If one denotes the corresponding relative standard errors by ρ_{Num} and ρ_{Den} , the relative standard error of a ratio of two random variables is approximated by⁹

$$\rho_{\rm ratio}^2 \doteq \rho_{\rm Num}^2 + \rho_{\rm Den}^2 - 2\gamma_{\rm Num, Den}$$

where $\gamma_{\text{Num, Den}}$ denotes the relative covariance of the numerator and denominator. Inasmuch as a positive multiple of the denominator is essentially one of the components of the numerator, the covariance is almost certainly positive, and therefore

$$\rho_{\text{ratio}} \stackrel{\leq}{=} (\rho_{\text{Num}}^2 + \rho_{\text{Den}}^2)^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

In the present case,

$$\rho_{\text{Num}} = 12512/233133 = .05367,$$

 $\rho_{\text{Den}} = 672/27565 = .02438,$

and an upper bound to the relative standard error of $e^{o(d)}_{75}$ is

$$[(.05367)^2 + (.02438)^2]^{\frac{1}{2}} = .0589,$$

or 5.9 percent. The true relative standard error of $e_{75}^{(d)}$ is probably substantially less.

-000---

APPENDIX III

IMPLIED INCIDENCE RATES

-000-

In the methodology used in the construction of the detailed tables and described in appendix I, prevalence rates of edentulousness were used in a makeshift fashion because incidence rates were not available. This was made possible by some rather sweeping assumptions described in the main text and in appendix I. As incidence rates would seem to be a necessary ingredient for obtaining the kind of results presented in tables 1-4, some incidence rates must be implicit in the assumptions made. Though no actual use was made of them, it may be of some theoretical interest to discover what rates these are.

The incidence rate for a condition is usually defined¹⁰ as the number of new cases of the condition occurring during a specified period of observation divided by the average population during the period of observation. Those persons who already have the condition under study are not excluded from the population in the denominator. Consider the ${}_{n}L_{x}$ persons who are in the age interval x to x + n at a given moment. The number of new cases of edentulousness occurring in this group during the succeeding n years is, on the assumptions made in this report,

$$_{n}L_{x+n}^{(c)} - \frac{nL_{x+n}}{nL_{x}} L_{x}^{(c)}.$$

The first term is the number edentulous n years later at ages n years older. The subtractive term is the number of survivors n years later of those in the original group who were already edentulous at the initial moment.

Noting that

$$_{n}L_{x}^{(e)} = _{n}\pi_{x n}L_{x}$$

and dividing the number of new cases by ${}_{n}L_{x}$, one obtains for the incidence rate

$$({}_{n}\pi_{x+n} - {}_{n}\pi_{x}) \frac{{}_{n}L_{x+n}}{{}_{n}L_{x}}$$

One may observe that this expression is the product of two factors: an *n*-year survival rate for the stationary population, and a difference between successive prevalence rates. This is reminiscent of the multiplicative theory of multiple decrement tables and the associated single decrement tables.¹¹

It is interesting to note that Klein³ obtained incidence rates by differencing prevalence rates without, however, offering any theoretical justification for this procedure.

If prevalence rates for some morbid condition (from which recovery is impossible) do not increase monotonically with age, this would imply negative incidence rates, and the model would be untenable.

VITAL AND HEALTH STATISTICS PUBLICATION SERIES

Originally Public Health Service Publication No. 1000

- Series 1. Programs and collection procedures.—Reports which describe the general programs of the National Center for Health Statistics and its offices and divisions, data collection methods used, definitions, and other material necessary for understanding the data.
- Series 2. Data evaluation and methods research.—Studies of new statistical methodology including: experimental tests of new survey methods, studies of vital statistics collection methods, new analytical techniques, objective evaluations of reliability of collected data, contributions to statistical theory.
- Series 3. Analytical studies.—Reports presénting analytical or interpretive studies based on vital and health statistics, carrying the analysis further than the expository types of reports in the other series.
- Series 4. Documents and committee reports.—Final reports of major committees concerned with vital and health statistics, and documents such as recommended model vital registration laws and revised birth and death certificates.
- Series 10. Data from the Health Interview Survey.—Statistics on illness, accidental injuries, disability, use of hospital, medical, dental, and other services, and other health-related topics, based on data collected in a continuing national household interview survey.
- Series 11. Data from the Health Examination Survey.—Data from direct examination, testing, and measurement of national samples of the civilian, noninstitutional population provide the basis for two types of reports: (1) estimates of the medically defined prevalence of specific diseases in the United States and the distributions of the population with respect to physical, physiological, and psychological characteristics; and (2) analysis of relationships among the various measurements without reference to an explicit finite universe of persons.
- Series 12. Data from the Institutional Population Surveys.—Statistics relating to the health characteristics of persons in institutions, and their medical, nursing, and personal care received, based on national samples of establishments providing these services and samples of the residents or patients.
- Series 13. Data from the Hospital Discharge Survey.—Statistics relating to discharged patients in short-stay hospitals, based on a sample of patient records in a national sample of hospitals.
- Series 14. Data on health resources: manpower and facilities.—Statistics on the numbers, geographic distribution, and characteristics of health resources including physicians, dentists, nurses, other health occupations, hospitals, nursing homes, and outpatient facilities.
- Series 20. Data on mortality.—Various statistics on mortality other than as included in regular annual or monthly reports—special analyses by cause of death, age, and other demographic variables, also geographic and time series analyses.
- Series 21. Data on natality, marriage, and divorce.—Various statistics on natality, marriage, and divorce other than as included in regular annual or monthly reports—special analyses by demographic variables, also geographic and time series analyses, studies of fertility.
- Series 22. Data from the National Natality and Mortality Surveys.—Statistics on characteristics of births and deaths not available from the vital records, based on sample surveys stemming from these records, including such topics as mortality by socioeconomic class, hospital experience in the last year of life, medical care during pregnancy, health insurance coverage, etc.

For a list of titles of reports published in these series, write to:

Office of Information National Center for Health Statistics Public Health Service, HRA Rockville, Md. 20852